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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good afternoon.

          3  I am Sheldon Leffler, the Chair of the Council's

          4  Committee on Public Safety.

          5                 In response to the problem of access

          6  to guns, the City Council in 1998 passed Local Law

          7  21. The current section 10-311 of the Administrative

          8  Code, also known as the Trigger Locks Law, or

          9  Christopher's Law, which made it unlawful for any

         10  person or business to dispose of any pistol or

         11  revolver which does not contain a safety locking

         12  device.

         13                 The law also required a licensed

         14  manufacturer, importer or dealer to include with the

         15  transfer of weapon a warning regarding responsible

         16  firearm storage.

         17                 I developed this measure introduced

         18  as Intro. 1095 in September of 1997, and it is

         19  Intro. 69 and 69-A in 1998. After reading a July

         20  6th, 1997 New York Times report that Maryland's two

         21  most populous counties, followed Connecticut,

         22  Massachusetts, Chicago, San Francisco and other

         23  California municipalities in enacting safety locking

         24  device measures.

         25                 These measures were aimed at reducing
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          2  accidental shooting, especially in homes by

          3  children. In fact, the laws referred to is

          4  Christopher's Law in memory of Staten Island

          5  resident Christopher Murphy, who died at the age of

          6  eight from an accidental gunshot wound.

          7                 According to a 1997 Center for

          8  Disease Control study, the rate of firearm deaths

          9  among children up to 14 years old is nearly 14 times

         10  higher in the United States than in 25 other

         11  industrialized countries combined.

         12                 The Center also estimates that nearly

         13  1.2 million unsupervised children return from school

         14  to a house that has a loaded or unlocked firearm.

         15  The rate of people killed by accidental shootings in

         16  the United States, is nine times higher than that of

         17  the 25 leading industrialized nations combined.

         18                 Various gun control advocates

         19  estimate that approximately 150 children are killed

         20  each year when children pick up loaded guns and

         21  shoot themselves or a playmate, and of course, a lot

         22  of adults are also shot by these guns.

         23                 Today we are holding a hearing on a

         24  bill that will expand on Local Law 21 of 1998.

         25                 This bill was originally introduced
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          2  by me in 1998 as Intro. 320. However, at last year's

          3  hearing, because of a concern that state penal law,

          4  section 400, which regulates the licensing of

          5  pistols and revolvers in the State, may preempt the

          6  City from enacting this particular provision.

          7                 We withheld Committee review of this

          8  bill until further study. In mid-spring of this year

          9  in 1999, this Committee received a memorandum from

         10  the Corporation Counsel indicating that these

         11  proposed amendments did not implicate the licensing

         12  provisions of penal law section 400, and are a

         13  proper exercise of local legislative power.

         14                 Counsel to our Committee has reviewed

         15  this memorandum and feels this Committee can now

         16  proceed to review and vote on this bill.

         17                 We had planned to schedule a hearing

         18  in June of 1999, but because of scheduling problems

         19  with Commissioner Safir over E911 oversight, this

         20  bill was scheduled for today.

         21                 Intro. 633 expands the scope of law

         22  that would include all weapons, not just pistols and

         23  revolvers, and mandates that any person "that

         24  applies for and obtains authorization to purchase a

         25  weapon or otherwise lawfully obtain a weapon
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          2  pursuant to chapters one or three of title 10 of

          3  this code, shall be required to purchase or obtain a

          4  safety locking device at the time he or she

          5  purchases or obtains the weapon."

          6                 The bill immunizes New York City from

          7  liability due to the use or misuse of the safety

          8  locking device and the provisions of the legislation

          9  don't apply to weapons owned or possessed by police

         10  officers.

         11                 The bill also creates a new section

         12  which mandates that a person uses safety locking

         13  device when storing the weapon.

         14                 A substantially similar bill has been

         15  placed on the Charter referendum this November by

         16  the Mayor's Charter Commission. However, this bill

         17  is within the jurisdiction of this Committee and the

         18  City Council as the Corporation Counsel is advised,

         19  and we feel that its presence on the Charter

         20  referendum is no bar to this body from doing its

         21  duty as a legislative body.

         22                 If anything, it calls into question

         23  the use of the Charter referendum procedures, a

         24  means to pass ordinary legislation.

         25                 We will hear from the Police
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          2  Department. We have also invited representatives

          3  from various District Attorneys' offices, gun

          4  control advocates, and anti-gun control advocates.

          5                 We will then proceed, unless there is

          6  an unforeseen problem, to vote on the bill.

          7                 I am joined today by members of the

          8  Council, from my left to right, Madeline Provenzano,

          9  Stanley Michels, Victor Robles, and Tracy Boyland.

         10                 Mr. Grasso, you are representing the

         11  Administration?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am. For

         13  the record, I am George Grasso. I am the Deputy

         14  Commissioner for Legal Matters in the New York City

         15  Police Department.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Welcome.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Thank

         18  you.

         19                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, members

         20  of the Council. On behalf of the Police Commissioner

         21  Howard Safir, I am very pleased to be here today to

         22  speak in support of Intro. No. 633. The bill adds to

         23  the New York City --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Let me say also,

         25  if I might, Peter Vallone had wanted to be here at
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          2  this meeting as sponsor of the legislation, but he

          3  has another engagement as well.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Thank

          5  you.

          6                 The bill adds to the New York City

          7  Administrative Code strong and comprehensive

          8  provisions requiring the use of safety locking

          9  devices on all firearms to promote the safe handling

         10  of weapons and prevent tragic shootings that can

         11  result in death or injury, especially to children.

         12                 Intro. 633 supplements the provisions

         13  of the Council's bill that became Local Law 21 of

         14  1998 known as Christopher's law, which required

         15  anyone selling or otherwise disposing of a handgun

         16  in New York City to include a safety locking device

         17  with the transfer.

         18                 The Police Department has fully

         19  implemented those aspects of the law for which it is

         20  responsible. It has promulgated official city rules

         21  regarding the general firearms safety and the types

         22  of safety locking devices which comply with the law,

         23  and has incorporated the law's provisions into the

         24  procedures of the Police Department's license

         25  division.
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          2                 However, although it was a good first

          3  step, Christopher's Law did not address issues which

          4  we believe are critical to public safety. The law

          5  did not apply to weapons other than pistols and

          6  revolvers, it did not require the purchaser of a

          7  weapon to purchase the safety locking device at the

          8  same time, it did not require the owner of a weapon

          9  to actually use the safety lock.

         10                 Intro. 633 adds these necessary

         11  requirements to the law, making it a criminal

         12  violation for the owner or custodian of a weapon to

         13  fail to use a safety locking device when the weapon

         14  is outside, his or her immediate possession or

         15  control.

         16                 If a person fails to use a safety

         17  lock under circumstances which create a substantial

         18  risk of physical injury to another person, or

         19  commits a second violation, the offense is upgraded

         20  to a misdemeanor.

         21                 Following the bill's introduction,

         22  the Council expressed concern that its provisions

         23  would potentially conflict with the handgun

         24  licensing provisions of New York State Penal Law

         25  Section 400.
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          2                 We carefully reviewed the bill and

          3  consulted with the Law Department, redrafting the

          4  provisions at issue. The Law Department thereafter

          5  issued a memorandum referred to by the Chair which

          6  was provided to Council staff, making it clear that

          7  the bill before you is consistent with the penal

          8  law.

          9                 Its provisions fall well within the

         10  Council's law-making powers in the penal law's

         11  delegation of licensing authority to the Police

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 I have attached to my statement a

         14  copy of the memorandum to be included in the record.

         15  If enacted, Intro. 633 would be a strong example of

         16  why New York City leads the nation in the battle

         17  against gun violence.

         18                 According to handgun control and the

         19  center to prevent handgun violence, every day in

         20  America 13 children under the age of 19 are killed

         21  with firearms by homicide, suicide and accidental

         22  shootings. Four times that number are wounded. I

         23  need not remind you that the enactment of

         24  Christopher's law was prompted by the tragic death

         25  of one such child, Christopher Murphy. Who was
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          2  accidently shot by a loaded gun found in his young

          3  friend's home.

          4                 We must do everything we can to

          5  prevent other parents from suffering the unspeakable

          6  sorrow that Christopher's parents have endured.

          7                 We believe that responsible firearms

          8  ownership should include the use of a safety lock,

          9  which disables a weapon, unless the firearm is in

         10  the direct possession and control of its owner,

         11  especially where there are children or others at

         12  risk.

         13                 This bill will help to ensure that

         14  every person who lawfully possesses a firearm takes

         15  reasonable steps to protect their loved ones from

         16  such harm.

         17                 I welcome any questions you may have,

         18  and I thank you all for your support in this

         19  important bill.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, thanks

         21  very much.

         22                 Obviously we have been generally

         23  supportive of the legislative, we originated the

         24  legislation, at the time that we addressed the

         25  legislation last year, some people here may recall
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          2  that for one reason or another certain of the issues

          3  we recognized, but we decided to proceed because we

          4  knew that certain matters required further study and

          5  they have been addressed at this time.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I believe

          7  they have.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          9                 So, let's just go through the

         10  changes. The Department has sought a revision of the

         11  legislation to take account of shootings involving

         12  weapons other than pistols or revolvers. You see

         13  that is the first change of just going down the

         14  bill.

         15                 Does the Department track the types

         16  of firearms used in shooting incidents?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes, we

         18  do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You do.

         20                 And in analyzing these gun incidents,

         21  has the Department attributed a significant number

         22  of crimes, and accidental shootings with firearms

         23  other than pistols or revolvers which has led you to

         24  conclude that we should use a broader term, i.e.

         25  weapon?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am not

          3  sure that we have definitive statistics in this

          4  area, but it is our professional judgment that the

          5  type of additional firearms that are now included in

          6  the scope of this legislation are exactly the type

          7  of firearms that would be very amenable to the type

          8  of locking device approach that we originally put in

          9  the law for firearms, and thereby by taking the

         10  simple, what we believe is a relatively simple step,

         11  would go a long way, as it would be in the case of a

         12  rifle or a shotgun or an assault weapon in

         13  preventing the type of tragedy that we had with

         14  young Christopher Murphy, should that firearm get in

         15  the hands of a child or someone else, and it was not

         16  intended to use.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, that seems

         18  to make sense.

         19                 It is our understanding that when a

         20  person who has a gun license wants to purchase a

         21  weapon, he or she must get a handgun purchase

         22  authorization form from the Police Department,

         23  submit it to the gun dealer and then return the

         24  completed form and the purchased weapon back to the

         25  Department.
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          2                 It is our understanding that this

          3  requirement is separate and apart from the initial

          4  process of getting a gun license. Is our

          5  understanding of the process correct?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I have

          7  Assistant Commissioner Karen Pakstis, who is in

          8  charge of the License Division with me, and with the

          9  Chair's permission, I will turn it over to her.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Welcome.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PAKSTIS: Yes,

         13  that is correct.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, so one

         15  procedure for getting a gun licensed and one with

         16  respect to a particular weapon that one has to get a

         17  permit to possess.

         18                 I guess that means then one could not

         19  get a permit to carry a particular gun without a

         20  license? One would have to have a license to carry a

         21  gun, and then one would get an authorization for a

         22  particular gun.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PAKSTIS: Yes,

         24  that's right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.
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          2                 Could you tell us a little about, Mr.

          3  Grasso, about the effectiveness of the current law?

          4  Has anyone been arrested and charged under the

          5  current law?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: To my

          7  knowledge we have not had any arrests pursuant to

          8  the current law; however, I can report, as I

          9  mentioned in my testimony, that the Police

         10  Department has fully promulgated rules and has

         11  gotten the notifications out and to my knowledge, my

         12  expectation is that based upon the law that was

         13  previously enacted, we have a safer environment in

         14  New York City, and obviously the goal with a law

         15  like this is not to go out and arrest a lot of

         16  people. We are dealing essentially here that the

         17  target audiences is law-abiding people, that is why

         18  they are license owners to begin with, in the

         19  context of our stringent background checks, just to

         20  give them more information and another mechanism to

         21  protect themselves and their family.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         23                 Well, the current law also applied to

         24  people who in the past wouldn't have been license

         25  holders. In other words, the first time a sale is
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          2  made, there would have to be a trigger lock on it;

          3  isn't that right? A pistol or a revolver in New York

          4  City?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: On the

          6  initial sale.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: On the initial

          8  sale.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right. We

         10  would expect that the overwhelming majority of that

         11  audience would be license holders.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. With

         13  respect to types of trigger locks, will the

         14  Department promulgate new rules about trigger locks

         15  for the broader range of weapons that this bill

         16  seeks to --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right. We

         18  think that the rules we have in place now could in

         19  fact be applied across the Board.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I see. So, it

         21  will just be extended to this --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They apply like

         24  that.

         25                 And the safety locking devices, are
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          2  they the same or different devices?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: They are

          4  essentially the same, the safety locking device.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

          6                 How long do you anticipate before the

          7  regulation will go into effect that broadens the

          8  applicability to this law from the time we were to

          9  pass this law, from the time the Mayor signed this

         10  law?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: How long

         12  do I anticipate?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Promulgating the

         14  revised regulation that will broaden the

         15  applicability?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I think

         17  that the regulations now can be interpreted in the

         18  way that they would in fact be applicable, and that

         19  is what we would intend to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think you

         21  ought to take another look at it, though.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: It would

         23  be the typical CAPA process to the extent that we

         24  have to make any changes, which would usually take

         25  about six months in total.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. It might

          3  be worth looking at again. I mean, it may apply to

          4  the section of the code. We are amending the section

          5  of the code and therefore the regulations will

          6  continue to apply.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Sure.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And how will you

          9  track whether this legislation before us today is

         10  having an impact?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We have

         12  our Chief of Department's office, they would be in

         13  the position to monitor any arrests or violations of

         14  the law that we would come into knowledge of, based

         15  upon the promulgation of these rules.

         16                 In addition to that, to the extent

         17  that the Police Department has responsibility when

         18  people come up for renewals of their various

         19  licenses, we will obviously be able to track that

         20  they receive all of the notifications that they

         21  would have to receive pursuant to this law.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         23                 Looking on the second page of the

         24  bill, paragraph four, a new sentence has been added

         25  at the end of D1 saying that New York City, its
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          2  officers or employees should not be liable -- oh,

          3  no, that is not the provision that I want.

          4                 The one that I want is the provision

          5  that exempts officers from the response -- oh, yes,

          6  paragraph C at the end.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: C, got

          8  it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The provisions

         10  of this section shall not apply to weapons owned or

         11  lawfully possessed by a police officer.

         12                 Why do you propose to exempt police

         13  officers in the legislation? I mean, shouldn't their

         14  kids also be protected by safety locking devices,

         15  just as well as everybody else?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well,

         17  there are a couple of things that I will mention

         18  with respect to that.

         19                 First of all, you should be aware it

         20  is already the Department policy upon the

         21  promulgation of Christopher's law, that whenever

         22  police officers are newly issued their weapons

         23  through the Department's equipment section, that

         24  they are issued the Christopher's law warning, and

         25  issued the locking device.
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          2                 In addition to that --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Are they

          4  required to use it though?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well, as

          6  far as requiring them to use it, I was getting to

          7  that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is what

          9  this does.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         11                 We don't think that police officers

         12  are necessarily an apples to apples comparison with

         13  other license holders because of the fact that

         14  police officers are essentially -- not essentially,

         15  they have all of their police powers 24 hours a day,

         16  seven days a week, and I was going to say,

         17  essentially to some respect the police officers are

         18  almost considered to be on duty in the sense should

         19  they become aware of, even if they are at home, and

         20  they are technically off duty, a violent crime

         21  occurring in front of their home, on their block,

         22  they may be compelled, depending on the nature of

         23  the situation, to take some immediate action.

         24                 Therefore that the average citizen

         25  who is a license holder may not be in the equivalent
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          2  situation. That is one difference.

          3                 Another difference is, police

          4  officers receive extensive training in their

          5  firearms and tactics section with respect to the

          6  safeguarding of weapons and the importance of

          7  ensuring that when their weapons are not in their

          8  immediate control they are stored in the manner that

          9  will be of primary safety to any minor children or

         10  any other vulnerable individuals in their household.

         11  And in addition to that, to the extent that police

         12  officers end up being involved in the situation

         13  where their firearm is used in the manner that would

         14  indicate they did not take reasonable steps to

         15  safeguard their firearms, they would be subject to

         16  department discipline for failure to safeguard their

         17  weapons. And as you know, Department discipline,

         18  depending on the circumstances, could ultimately

         19  result in very significant penalties to the

         20  officers.

         21                 So, we have the extensive training,

         22  we have the potential for administrative discipline,

         23  and we have the unique status that police officers

         24  have in our City with respect to their status of

         25  police officers pursuant to law.
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          2                 Using those three factors, we think

          3  that this exemption is appropriate.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Even though

          5  police officers may be confronted with situations

          6  where they have to use their weapons, you know, even

          7  near their homes, why not require that there be

          8  protective devices, they would simply disengage the

          9  protective devices if they have to use the weapon.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: As I said

         11  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If they are

         13  really protective for everybody else, why aren't

         14  they protective for their own -- I mean, isn't one

         15  of the reasons like to protect one child against

         16  another child using a gun?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Of

         18  course. Our view of the matter was on balance, as I

         19  said, given the unique role that the police officer

         20  plays and the type of training the police officer

         21  gets on an ongoing basis and the disciplinary

         22  sanctions that are available should a police officer

         23  fail to properly safeguard that we think that the

         24  case is there to support the exemption.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, I will

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  just ask one other question and then I will turn it

          3  over to the members of the Committee.

          4                 I haven't had a chance to look at

          5  your opinion. I see it is dated September 30th, but

          6  I am just getting it now.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Of course

          8  it is the Law Department opinion, which we are

          9  supportive of.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. I see

         11  Regina Berger there behind you, I take it it is the

         12  Corporation Counsel's opinion.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Actually her

         15  opinion, I take it.

         16                 Your opinion or the Corporation

         17  Counsel's opinion?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: It is the

         19  Corporation Counsel's.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Perhaps you

         21  wish, Stanley.

         22                 In any case, since this was a

         23  significant issue in our not passing a broader

         24  legislation originally and waiting for this, would

         25  you explain to us why even though there is a gun
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          2  registry system under state law, we can require

          3  people under the reauthorization of their permits to

          4  have trigger locks on their guns. Why doesn't state

          5  law preempt this?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well,

          7  essentially it is the opinion that addresses the

          8  issue after a review of the areas that this law is

          9  focusing in on in the context of penal law section

         10  400 and as it deals with the discretion of the

         11  Police Commissioner with respect to gun licenses. We

         12  don't see anything in here at this point that is

         13  even remotely overlapping of the discretionary

         14  authority in section 400. I think that is

         15  essentially the basis of the opinion of the Law

         16  Department.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What does that

         18  mean, you don't see anything overlapping? I mean,

         19  isn't there a general rule that where state law

         20  operates in a particular field, like setting up a

         21  registry system, that in order to apply the -- the

         22  City doesn't legislate in the very same area, i.e.,

         23  when somebody is going for a reauthorization under

         24  the system having to get trigger locks on the guns.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Since the
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          2  gun lock is not a requirement in the licensing

          3  scheme, we don't see it as a burden on the licensees

          4  that would trigger the type of concern that you are

          5  raising. And when I say we, of course, I am

          6  referring to the Law Department and their opinion in

          7  the context of the review that they did of this

          8  bill.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Let me look at

         10  this more closely as other people raise questions.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And

         12  obviously, Mr. Chairman, I would say that to the

         13  extent that the Council, that the Counsel for the

         14  Council wishes to discuss the Law Department's

         15  opinion in more detail, that they could go over it

         16  counsel to counsel. But I have been informed, and my

         17  own reading of it is that this opinion is a solid

         18  opinion and would withstand scrutiny.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Let me look at

         20  it further.

         21                 Councilman Stanley Michels.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes. We are

         23  using the pre-definition of dispose -- let me clear

         24  that up. We are using the previous definitions of

         25  dispose that are found in the law right now, right?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Excuse

          3  me? I have a problem hearing you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Section

          5  10-301, the Administrative Code defines the word

          6  dispose, which means, defines disposed, disposed or

          7  give away, give, lease, loan, keep the sale, offer a

          8  sale -- that is already in the law, I just wanted

          9  that as part of the record so nobody asks the

         10  question, well, what do you mean by dispose. It

         11  encompasses any transference at all in any way,

         12  manner, shape or form is a disposal.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay.

         15                 Now, the other thing I am concerned

         16  about, and I just want your assurances, what we have

         17  done here is we have said to the Police

         18  Commissioner, we are going to promulgate rules and

         19  regulations as to the type of the safety locking

         20  devices, which will comply with this section, and we

         21  had discussed this in the previous hearing as well,

         22  because there were various manufacturers that came

         23  up with these different types of devices, some of

         24  which you attach to the guns, and once you attach

         25  it, it is impossible to get off. I have such a
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          2  device in my office that I have been able to look

          3  at.

          4                 Because we know as it stands now

          5  there are certain weapons which have safety devices

          6  already on them. And with the assurances I want,

          7  that is not going to be in the definition, like a

          8  revolver, we know a safety cannot be put on a

          9  revolver, as to my understanding.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: But certain

         12  weapons already come from the manufacturer with

         13  safeties already on them. So, these are going to be

         14  new types of safety devices.

         15                 In addition, because those safety

         16  devices don't require a key or anything like that,

         17  the ones that are presently on them; is that

         18  correct?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes. We

         20  got the specific regulations, would you like a copy

         21  of them?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, I would

         23  like that.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We could

         25  make that part of the record.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You see, my

          3  biggest concern, when I was in the service, I was

          4  shown an example where you could not, because the

          5  safety device that was put on a weapon, that you

          6  could not pull the trigger back, yet if the weapon

          7  was banged in a certain way, it moves around the

          8  chamber, that chamber would go off. In other words,

          9  it didn't restrain the firing pin. So, what you are

         10  saying to me, and I don't know if the regulation

         11  have it, is the regulations that you intend to put

         12  in effect are ones that are going to prevent the

         13  firing pin from making contact with the rounds

         14  itself.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes, that

         16  is our intent and we believe that it is in effect

         17  and that you will find it as such.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Yes, that is

         19  a true safety device.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes. That

         21  is obviously -- the idea is to make sure that the

         22  firearm is inoperable.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right. And

         24  that is the only way it became inoperable, is to

         25  prevent the contact between the firing pin, which
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          2  every one of these weapons have, and the casing, the

          3  rear casing of the round itself, I hope I am not

          4  being too technical.

          5                 Now, the other thing is, you are not

          6  grandfathering in weapons that are in possession of

          7  people previous to the enactment of this

          8  legislation?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No, we

         10  are not.

         11                 To the extent that we are catching

         12  the universe of weapons that are out there, is when

         13  people come into the licensing divisions for the

         14  two-year renewal process --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: That is the

         16  enforcement issue. Right now, when this legislation

         17  is passed and signed and it is enacted into law,

         18  anyone with any of these type of weapons must have a

         19  safety device on them, and must utilize the safety

         20  device when storing them.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:  So that

         23  people who have a weapon right now, must go out and

         24  purchase an approved safety lock.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.
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          2  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I just wanted

          4  to make it clear. Nobody is grandfathered in, and

          5  what you are talking about is when they come in,

          6  that is the enforcement mechanism.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are not

          9  going to renew anybody who doesn't have it?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And it

         12  doesn't matter where they obtained this weapon,

         13  whether it is upstate or out-of-state, whether it is

         14  within the jurisdiction here --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Once the

         16  weapon is in the jurisdiction of the City of New

         17  York, and then the weapon is outside of the

         18  immediate possession and control of the owner of the

         19  weapon, it is then the affirmative responsibility

         20  pursuant to this law of the owner to ensure that

         21  that weapon has the proper safety locking mechanism.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: And that is

         23  Section 10-312.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And to

         25  the extent it doesn't, then that person is operating

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  at their peril with respect to the law.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Right.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How will that be

          6  enforced? I mean that was an issue that we

          7  considered when we passed the original legislation

          8  and that is why we only applied it to sales and

          9  transfers rather than to possession.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: As I was

         11  telling you earlier, I believe the main goal that we

         12  all share with respect to this legislation, is not

         13  to increase the arrest numbers of the Police

         14  Department, meaning interpreting enforcement to mean

         15  how we--

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We usually don't

         17  enforce laws that are not going to be --

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well, I

         19  am trying to, I am trying to get there. I mean, one

         20  analogy that I would raise is with respect to the

         21  seat belt law.

         22                 We now have, since I believe 1985

         23  seat belt law in the State of New York. The main

         24  goal of promulgating that law wasn't to increase the

         25  penalties for people riding in their vehicles
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          2  without seat belts. The main goal was to protect

          3  people when they are licensed and they are driving

          4  vehicles and their passengers. So, one enforcement

          5  mechanism in this bill could be in the very

          6  unfortunate circumstances of a tragic incident, the

          7  investigation, you know, say you have a young child

          8  who ends up in the household, is shot in a situation

          9  where he was with a playmate and it was obviously

         10  through the accidental use of an unattended firearm

         11  that would be covered by this law, that owner would

         12  now be subject to the criminal sanctions. And if our

         13  investigation revealed that the owner was not in

         14  compliance, then I would believe that there would be

         15  an arrest. There would be an enforcement mechanism.

         16                 However, that is obviously the worst

         17  case type of scenario. I believe that the large

         18  majority of the people who wear their seatbelts

         19  today aren't wearing their seat belts so much

         20  because they are so worried that they may ultimately

         21  at some point get a summons, but that they want to

         22  obey the law, they realize it was a law that was

         23  enacted for their safety and as responsible

         24  law-abiding citizens they are more likely now to

         25  wear seat belts than they would have been prior to
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          2  1985, and thereby we have a lot less injuries.

          3                 I would hope, and I believe that with

          4  the enactment of this law, the people who own

          5  firearms, who for the most part I believe

          6  overwhelmingly, you know, the legitimate legal

          7  firearm owners are people who want to comply with

          8  the law, are going to recognize this law, they are

          9  going to seek to comply with this law and we are

         10  going to have a lot less tragedies.

         11                 To the extent people don't comply

         12  with his law and an investigation reveals that they

         13  don't, they will be held accountable.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         15                 Councilman Phil Reed.

         16                 May I just point out to the members

         17  of the Committee who are here that we have five

         18  members who are here now and therefore everybody's

         19  being here is important if we are going to have this

         20  vote today.

         21                 Councilman Reed.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         23                 I am in support of this legislation.

         24  I just would have to disagree with Commissioner

         25  Grasso, I think it is not about the firemen, it is
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          2  apples and apples, kids are kids, neighbors are

          3  neighbors, family members are family members. To try

          4  to exempt the police from this I think sets us up in

          5  a situation where there is going to be a tragic

          6  accident. And first and foremost, the police are

          7  also supposed to obey the law and set examples.

          8                 So, with all due respect, I am glad

          9  that we are all supportive for a change perhaps in

         10  this Committee, but I just don't think we ought to

         11  be exempting police officers in their houses about

         12  having to have these.

         13                 One question that I think is somewhat

         14  related. In my district there was a flurry of

         15  requests from shop owners to me to assist them when

         16  they were trying to get a new license for carrying

         17  guns, concealed weapons or having them on site.

         18  There would seem to be a crack down and this was six

         19  or seven months go, this is coming to my mind.

         20                 Could you just briefly tell me how

         21  many licenses we took away from people? I presume,

         22  in other words, if someone has a license to carry

         23  this either on the premises or in the car, we are

         24  still talking about having a lock on the gun, right?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So you were

          3  drastically reducing the number of licenses that

          4  people had? Is that what I am being told?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No, with

          6  respect -- well, first of all, with respect to the

          7  trigger lock law, I mean, again, the application of

          8  the law comes into play when the firearm is not in

          9  their immediate possession or control. So we need to

         10  be clear about that.

         11                 I would like to also --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When it is being

         13  stored, in other words?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.

         15  If it is on your person, the law does not require

         16  you to have a trigger lock. Just to address the

         17  aspect of what you said initially regarding the law

         18  enforcement exemption.

         19                 Again, going back to the point I made

         20  about the police officers, you know, having their

         21  full police responsibility seven days a week, 24

         22  hours a day, you know one of the things a trigger

         23  lock, in order to -- with the automatic weapon, to

         24  make sure that -- and a revolver as well -- to make

         25  sure that it is being handled safely, you would have
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          2  to unload that weapon prior to placing the trigger

          3  lock on it. And therefore, obviously should a

          4  situation develop where a police officer would have

          5  to -- say you have a violent robbery, a street

          6  robbery occurring directly in front of the police

          7  officer's residence, and the police officer

          8  witnesses it, and sees the need to potentially save

          9  a life, to go out and take immediate action. Now,

         10  that officer, obviously in a situation like that,

         11  every second will count.

         12                 Now, in those seconds, if this law

         13  was applied to that police officer, and that officer

         14  did not have the gun on his or her person, they

         15  would have to go get the gun, get the lock off the

         16  gun, reload that gun and then go out there and act

         17  as a police officer. Those seconds ultimately could

         18  lead to a tragic circumstance where maybe they could

         19  have been more effective if they would have been out

         20  there earlier.

         21                 So, that is why I say it is not

         22  apples to apples. Certainly, to make sure the record

         23  is absolutely clear, to imply that police officers

         24  don't have every bit as much as a concern with

         25  respect to their children as anyone else, it is just
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          2  that they have a bit more of an obligation to the

          3  City then a lot of other people.

          4                 That is why I don't think it is

          5  apples to apples but I can assure you the Department

          6  training, and we have here Captain Keegan, who is

          7  the Commander of our Firearms and Tactics Section,

          8  he is very focused on impressing upon police

          9  officers appropriate techniques for safeguarding

         10  their weapon and making sure they are fully aware of

         11  the horrendous consequences that can occur when a

         12  firearm gets in the hands of, an unattended firearm

         13  gets in the hands of a child.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Could you answer

         15  the last part of my question, briefly?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Okay,

         17  again the last part of your question? Sorry, it was

         18  a multiple question and I got a little carried away.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We disagree with

         20  each other.

         21                 I said to you that I understood the

         22  Department was trying to vastly reduce the number of

         23  permits that people had to have weapons on premises,

         24  et cetera, et cetera, and I was being asked by shop

         25  keepers to write letters. I was curious as to what
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          2  status of that crackdown was.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: That is

          4  not true.

          5                 What the Department is doing, and I

          6  have Commissioner Pakstis here with me from the

          7  License Division if you need further elaboration,

          8  but I can tell you in a nutshell, what the

          9  Department is doing is looking very carefully at out

         10  licenses, at our applications and our renewals, and

         11  making sure that we have legitimate information and

         12  truthful information and that the circumstances, are

         13  they a licensee who is up for renewal and not

         14  changed significantly since that licensee previously

         15  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Have you had a

         17  decrease in the number of licenses? I am not asking

         18  you for specific numbers, but has there been a ten

         19  percent decrease do you think?  In your review of

         20  these people on their renewal, what has happened?

         21  Has everybody gotten them all back because they are

         22  legit? Have half of them not gotten it? What is your

         23  sense of it?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I will

         25  turn that over to Commissioner Pakstis for the
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          2  statistical information.

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PAKSTIS: As

          4  Commissioner Grasso indicated, we have been in the

          5  process of reviewing all of these applications upon

          6  renewal. There has not been a significant decrease

          7  in the number of licenses on renewal, as a result of

          8  that review.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         11                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         12                 Thank you, Councilman Reed.

         13                 Council Member Tracy Boyland, who has

         14  had a particular interest in gun control issues.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you.

         16                 We have been in the forefront in

         17  Central Brooklyn on an issue not quite like this

         18  one.

         19                 As I look at this, and I signed up to

         20  support this because I felt that this was a step, a

         21  crawl to a walking step in terms of gun control, but

         22  as I look at it, my question to you is, when we talk

         23  about not legal guns, but illegal guns, the problem,

         24  I am having conversations with police officers, with

         25  members from out of state, ATF, how are you going to
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          2  enforce something of this nature, not just in New

          3  York City, because most of the illegal guns that

          4  come into New York City are coming from out of

          5  state. They are coming from Virginia, they are

          6  coming from Ohio --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Illegal

          8  guns.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Literally,

         10  yes. How are you going to -- because you can only

         11  now address the illegal gun holders that come in for

         12  licensing --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: You mean

         14  the legal gun holders.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: The legal gun

         16  holders that come in for the permitting process,

         17  then you say, well, these are some of the things

         18  that you need to have. On the illegal gun side, and

         19  I still don't think $500 or 30-day penalty is stiff

         20  enough for this kind of issue, but how are you going

         21  to address this? This seems like a larger issue than

         22  what we are discussing at this particular time in

         23  terms of attacking this issue of gun control and

         24  trigger lock?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well, I
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          2  have to tell you, from my own opinion, I think if

          3  the implication of your question is, you know, do I

          4  think that above and beyond this legislation to

          5  really address the issue of gun violence in the City

          6  of New York, especially as it pertains to illegal

          7  guns, do we need more than we have here? I can tell

          8  you right off the bat, in my opinion absolutely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Thank you. I

         10  agree with you.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO:

         12  Unfortunately, and I only wish that we could address

         13  a lot of the things that I think we all need at the

         14  federal level, directly through the City Council.

         15  Because I think, as I said in my testimony, and I

         16  believe it to be the case, to the extent that New

         17  York City has statutory Authority to regulate

         18  firearms, we actually lead the nation in that

         19  respect.

         20                 I think this is an area, one of a

         21  number of areas where the nation could follow the

         22  lead of New York City.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: How many gun

         24  manufacturers are in New York City?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Excuse
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          2  me?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Gun

          4  manufacturers are in New York City?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Gun

          6  manufacturers?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Yes.

          8                 None.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes,

         10  right.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Exactly.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.

         13  I mean, so there are so many things that need to be

         14  done beyond this law, but this law represents

         15  something that we can do, that we think can help,

         16  that we think can prevent tragedies. So I think just

         17  because we all know that we need more that goes

         18  beyond the scope of the authority of this Council

         19  and the City of New York, that would not be a case,

         20  obviously, not to pass this law.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I think that

         22  is my frustration. I think as we have the

         23  discussion, I think we need to be moving forward

         24  toward -- I mean moving towards more in terms of New

         25  York City, the involvement of the Police Department,
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          2  the tracing program through the Police Department

          3  for guns that are found that are illegal. I think it

          4  goes beyond New York City, beyond New York State,

          5  because most of the guns are therefore traced out of

          6  New York City and out of New York State.

          7                 So, I think this is going to, I mean

          8  we have to adopt some national kind of attention in

          9  terms of a federal law. It we are going to just do

         10  it in New York City, that is great, and it is still

         11  just a call in terms of where we need to be in terms

         12  of walking. You know, that is just my feeling.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And as

         14  you should be aware, the Mayor is very supportive of

         15  additional gun legislation and is attempting to

         16  advance a federal package and that might be

         17  something that would bear additional conversation

         18  with the Council to work together on with the

         19  Administration.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And my last

         21  question, because I know they are voting today, what

         22  is the cost of the triggers that are incurred? The

         23  cost is on the distributor, on that particular

         24  person, on the manufacturer? What is the cost of

         25  installing a trigger lock on the gun?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Approximately.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Yes.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I think

          5  it would be in the ball park of $5 or $10 and it

          6  would be borne on the person obviously who is buying

          7  the lock for the gun.

          8                 Relatively minimal. I would say, in

          9  my opinion, in the context of what we are

         10  accomplishing here, a de minimus cost.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And does this

         12  gun, does this trigger lock interfere with -- let's

         13  say the police, they are not required to do it, but

         14  is there a trigger lock on the police officer's gun

         15  at all.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: As I

         17  mentioned earlier in my testimony, when police

         18  officers now are issued their weapons, they are also

         19  issued a trigger lock as well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And does that

         21  interfere with their shooting ability or the

         22  response time?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well,

         24  when the officer were to choose to engage the lock,

         25  obviously it would, and that was the basis of some
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          2  of my previous testimony with Councilman Reed.

          3                 But then what we do is, while on the

          4  one hand we train the police officers with regard to

          5  trigger locks and encourage them to think of that as

          6  a mechanism that we can use, we don't absolutely

          7  mandate it because of one of those concerns.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I just want

          9  to say for the record, I supported this legislation,

         10  but I do intend to, you know, have further

         11  discussion with you and the chair on how we can

         12  develop more legislation that is more aggressive. I

         13  think especially when we are talking about children,

         14  especially when we are talking about not just legal

         15  guns, but illegal guns as coming into our community.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member

         20  Madeline Provenzano.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         22                 I am, obviously if you look at the

         23  bill, one of the main supporters of it.

         24                 I think the first bill was a baby

         25  step, and I think this is maybe another baby step. I
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          2  think there is just so much that we have to do in

          3  this area.

          4                 Just to respond a little bit to my

          5  colleagues, I think if we look on some of the

          6  killings throughout the country and in the City, we

          7  would find, and I think that I am right, that mostly

          8  it is done by legal guns, not really illegal. I

          9  mean, you look at all of the mass killings and these

         10  were guns that were owned by somebody or either here

         11  in the City.

         12                 I also -- and I don't want you to

         13  comment on it, but I also just want to say that I,

         14  too, have a problem with it not applying to police

         15  officers. If we look, and I understand everything

         16  that was said, but I think if we look on some of the

         17  incidents in the City, kids that got a hold of guns

         18  and people that were killed, you know that a lot of

         19  them, or several of them, were involving police

         20  officers.

         21                 And my other fear for that is once

         22  you eliminate one group, then it trickles down. Then

         23  the next group comes up and says, well, we are peace

         24  officers or we are -- I don't know, marshals,

         25  sheriffs or whatever, so everybody wants to get in
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          2  on the act now and say, well, since you are exempt,

          3  we should be exempt, and they want to do it for

          4  things like pension and whatever, so I can see maybe

          5  that kind of a thing following through.

          6                 You don't have to comment on that

          7  today.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I will

          9  stand by my previous comment.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: My feeling on

         12  it, for whatever it is worth, I respect your

         13  opinion, and who else made a comment, Victor Robles

         14  --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I am not

         16  finished.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, I will

         18  defer then.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I was just going

         21  to speak on the point that you had just raised.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Go right

         23  ahead, as long as you don't jump over me.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: My feeling on it

         25  simply is that, like you, I am not crazy about that
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          2  provision, if it were left to me I think my judgment

          3  would be not to put it in. But it seems to me this

          4  is one of those where I am willing to defer to the

          5  Police Department, their judgment is on balance it

          6  is a plus. They haven't convinced me but I would be

          7  willing to go along with that, and in the context of

          8  the --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: And I would

         10  like to think that if --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is my view.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: -- We had

         13  problems along those lines, that we could of course

         14  go back and revisit it as we can.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We are making

         16  the law.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I just

         18  have one clarification that I would like you to make

         19  for me.

         20                 Let's assume I have six guns in my

         21  house, which you would never find in my house, but I

         22  would have to now go out, once this is legislation,

         23  and purchase trigger locks for all of those weapons.

         24                 But if I went to renew my license for

         25  them, which of course I would have, you wouldn't
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          2  question me, you would ask me if I had trigger

          3  locks?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: When you

          5  renew your license you are going to get the

          6  notification, pursuant to the law. So you will be

          7  specifically made aware of what the responsibilities

          8  are.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Now, when

         10  someone renews the license, do they bring the weapon

         11  in?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So you

         14  wouldn't know if that --

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No, no.

         16                 But you will in fact, as you said,

         17  you are absolutely correct, that person with six

         18  guns would b responsible to have six trigger locks

         19  for those guns when those guns are not attended.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would there be

         21  some way in which that would come to your attention,

         22  whether or not the person has trigger locks on the

         23  guns when the person is renewing?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Only if

         25  there was an incident with the gun --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That's the only

          3  way?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: But other

          5  than that, no.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

          7  again, you had mentioned that New York

          8  City pretty much leads the nation in gun control, as

          9  well we should.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: And I

         12  think as far as the rest of the nation there is

         13  really a lot to be done.

         14                 You know, one of the local newspapers

         15  has a question they ask of one person every day,

         16  what would be your wish for the new millennium? And

         17  I think mine would be, in this wonderful age of

         18  technology, why can't we get to the point where we

         19  just have a computer chip that we can put into

         20  weapons and draw a fingerprint or a handprint

         21  active, so that only you could fire your weapon and

         22  only you could fire your weapon. So for what it is

         23  worth, that is my wish.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In fact, we

         25  looked into that. I remember asking --

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            51

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I mean, it

          3  is doable.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It has been

          5  done. Has it not been done, I think in New Jersey,

          6  for example, is there not a system?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am not

          8  prepared to get into detail on that type of a

          9  specific proposal right now other than to reiterate

         10  the general nature of my previous testimony today

         11  which is, I agree and the Administration agrees that

         12  there is a lot more that needs to be done in terms

         13  of gun control and we would be amendable to discuss

         14  anything that sounded reasonable.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am advised

         19  that we have legislation in on that.

         20                 I mean, in general terms, this is not

         21  meant to be legal advice, but in general terms my

         22  understanding is that now you can put a computer

         23  chip in a gun so that only the person who knows the

         24  code can in fact operate the gun because he or she

         25  is the only one who knows the code.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: But they

          3  can also be print sensitive, can't they? So that

          4  only the person that handles the gun, it is as if

          5  the weapon knows only the person that handles it.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: As I sit

          7  here I am not sure. I would have to go back and

          8  research that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There are a lot

         10  of other things we can look into after this.  We are

         11  willing to go behind it at this point, and the

         12  feeling therefore is let's move with this, but there

         13  are other things that they are interested in us

         14  exploring.

         15                 Councilman Robles.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Let me pick up

         17  with my colleagues, and maybe take this a little

         18  different. While I will accept what the chairman

         19  said about relying upon you, the expert, let me

         20  perhaps as a layperson, but I know the policewoman

         21  will help out in some way.

         22                 My name is on this bill, I, too,

         23  witnessed, at least on television, the tragedy which

         24  led up to Local Law 21 of '98, as you said in your

         25  testimony, Christopher's law.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Which was a

          4  young person from Staten Island, I believe,

          5  Christopher Murphy. Which I also understand that

          6  both the parents were police officers, if I remember

          7  correctly.

          8                 Now, the reason why I joined is

          9  because it was about guns in the household that

         10  young people somehow got a hold of, and

         11  unfortunately a tragedy occurred.

         12                 So far so good?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

         15                 So let me go down now to the police

         16  officer, which you were saying to Council Member

         17  Reed and others about why police officers should be

         18  exempt, which I must tell you, that I am willing to

         19  accept what the chair said, but I want to throw a

         20  caveat.

         21                 When I was an auxiliary police

         22  officer, and I was trained by you guys many moons

         23  ago, and I must tell you, I also was licensed to

         24  carry a weapon when I worked with Shirley Chism, and

         25  I had it until I got sick and tired of the New York
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          2  Post constantly questioning. But I know the process,

          3  and although it does change, so I am a little

          4  familiar with that process.

          5                 Let me just go back to the

          6  policewoman. When you issue weapons to your police

          7  officers after graduation, or before graduation or

          8  whenever you do, how many weapons do you assign to

          9  those police officers?

         10                 I know you have now this new gun

         11  called -- what was that new gun called, rapid fire,

         12  what is it? The glock?

         13                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: (Not identified for

         14  the record) it is a 70 automatic pistol.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: That is now

         16  the Department's official weapon, correct? No longer

         17  the 38.

         18                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: It is one of them.

         19  You still have an option for a 38.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I want to make

         21  sure I understand it.

         22                 When a police officer graduates and

         23  he is now put out on the beat in uniform, what is

         24  the official gun that he carries while on duty?

         25                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: He has a choice
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          2  between two semiautomatic pistols, the glock model

          3  19, or the Smith and Wessen model 5946.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And so long as

          5  he, while in the performance of his duty carries one

          6  of those two, he is not violating rules and

          7  regulations of the Department; is that fair to say?

          8                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: Right, he can only

          9  carry one.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Now does he

         11  get both guns? Does he purchase those guns or do you

         12  give him those guns?

         13                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: No, they are given by

         14  the department, except for the night sights.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I am sorry,

         16  they are given by the Department?

         17                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: They are purchased by

         18  the Department, and he has to purchase night sights

         19  on the firearm.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: What does that

         21  mean?

         22                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: They glow in the

         23  dark.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So the

         25  Department then issues or gives the police officers
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          2  two guns?

          3                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: No, that is not

          4  correct, one gun.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: One gun. Where

          6  does the second one come in?

          7                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: You have a choice

          8  between those two.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay. So, of

         10  those two, you get one.

         11                 Then, however, if I remember

         12  correctly, my training in the auxiliary police,

         13  although we didn't have guns, police officers also

         14  had the right to what was referred to then and maybe

         15  is called different now, what is called off duty.

         16  So, for the most part in those days it was a Smith

         17  and Wessen, Chief Special, and instead of carrying

         18  the big 38, then you would have now the snub nose

         19  and what have you. So, they then got another gun

         20  that they can use while not on duty; is that

         21  correct?

         22                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: That is correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And that still

         24  happens?

         25                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: With new recruits,
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          2  they have a choice, it is an option of purchasing an

          3  off-duty nine millimeter pistol.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And believe

          5  me, if I am a spunky new cop, I am going to get the

          6  second gun, because if I am correct, I am aware of

          7  police officers walking the beat in my district,

          8  that not only has the official Department, but they

          9  also have the smaller gun, and I understand, you

         10  know, sometimes you go into these places, I don't

         11  know about now because crime is down, but they may

         12  be walking around with more than one gun; is that

         13  fair to say, while on duty?

         14                 CAPTAIN KEEGAN: They are allowed to

         15  do that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes, okay.

         17                 Now, mind you, this bill, and my

         18  concern has nothing to do with the police officer

         19  while performing the line of duty, I will not

         20  restrict him from that exercise, however, when a

         21  police officer is off duty, I mean you really have

         22  to be nuts to walk around with two guns while you

         23  are off duty.

         24                 So, my concern is, what happens to

         25  the other gun that may be in the house?
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          2                 You see, this bill is about not the

          3  police officer putting handcuffs, it is about

          4  weapons left in the house that, and you shake your

          5  head, but I am not aware of cops even off duty

          6  walking around with two guns. But maybe I am in the

          7  wrong world.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: The gun

          9  that you are referring to would be typically stored

         10  in the Police Officer's locker in the police

         11  facility. The gun assigned for on-duty use would

         12  typically stored in the locker in the Department

         13  facility.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Wait, let me

         15  make sure I understand it. Commissioner, I am not

         16  against you, I am trying to understand it, because I

         17  want to get to the point of what I believe we are

         18  getting to, which is not the police officer on duty,

         19  the exercise of protecting the public, I think we

         20  are talking about guns left in the household. I

         21  think that is what happened and that is what

         22  triggered this.

         23                 Let me try to understand what you are

         24  saying to me. You are saying that the police

         25  officers who have these guns assigned to them,
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          2  department guns, once they leave the tour of duty,

          3  those guns remain in the precinct?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: The guns

          5  that are used for on-duty use typically would be

          6  left in the locker in the precinct, and the police

          7  officer would bring his or her off duty gun home

          8  with him, unless of course the police officer chose

          9  to have one gun for both on duty or off duty use,

         10  then I would imagine typically that gun would go

         11  home, should the police officer choose to bring the

         12  gun home.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: My point is

         14  the following: If you are correct, then I didn't

         15  hear you say it is mandated, you say may. Unless you

         16  are saying to me that it is department procedure

         17  that that gun remains in the precinct.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: The

         19  reason I put the word may in is that the Department

         20  has over the last number of years provided

         21  significantly more flexibility within the discretion

         22  of individual police officers as to carrying

         23  off-duty weapons.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: There was
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          2  a time when I first came on the Department 20 years

          3  ago when there was very --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Wait. No, no,

          5  because this is important. The issue --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: When

          7  there was very minimal flexibility off duty but

          8  through the years we have greatly added to the

          9  discretion of the police officer to choose not to be

         10  armed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Commissioner,

         12  a police officer off duty, in his or her home, can

         13  there be more than one gun in their possession at

         14  home?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Can there

         16  be?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Can there be?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: In their

         19  broad sense, hypothetical? The answer to can there

         20  be is yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Well, see,

         22  like your shall and may, they can stay in the

         23  precinct or they can bring it home.

         24                 My questions are simple.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I mean,
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          2  can is a broad word.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Excuse me,

          4  very simple.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Simple

          7  question. Can a police officer have more than one

          8  gun in their home?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: He can,

         10  yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         12                 Now, getting back to the issue of

         13  Council Member Reed, and my other colleagues, which

         14  is my point to you, Mr. Chairman, which leads to the

         15  policy of the Police Department, and let me get to

         16  that, too, because I think I heard something.

         17                 If your answer to the question was

         18  the following, we do not want to restrict the police

         19  officers, because if in the event, although they are

         20  off duty, their oath demands that if they see the

         21  crime being committed, they are to take action and

         22  they run out of their house or something has

         23  happened or they walk in the street and they have

         24  their off-duty gun but there is still another one in

         25  the house, which is the point, when you do the
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          2  trigger and you urge them, my question is why cannot

          3  those police officers who have guns in their house

          4  that he or she is not going to use, whether on duty

          5  or off-duty, are those guns, why can't those guns

          6  have the trigger lock? Because it has nothing to do

          7  with the police officers because he or she may still

          8  have his off-duty gun.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         10  And that goes into another aspect of what I was

         11  attempting to articulate in my testimony to the

         12  chair earlier.

         13                 The police officers are trained that

         14  they are responsible to safeguard all weapons in

         15  their possession.

         16                 So, working with your hypothetical,

         17  let's say a police officer were to choose to have a

         18  multiple weapon in his or her household, that

         19  officer would be accountable to the Department to

         20  properly safeguard those weapons.

         21                 We, as I indicated, issue trigger

         22  locks now to police officers --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: They get them?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: They get

         25  them at the equipment section.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We train

          4  our officers with respect to the feasibility of

          5  storing weapons and locks boxes, and things of that

          6  sort, safes.

          7                 When police officers are the victims,

          8  for instance on the discipline end, where a police

          9  officer is say out of his or her residence, and at

         10  the residence where unfortunately it would be

         11  burglary, unfortunately police officers, like

         12  everyone else, are crime victims from time to time

         13  too, if one of the aspects of the Department

         14  investigation, in addition to investigating the

         15  burglary, we also investigate how the police

         16  officers safeguarded that weapon. If that police

         17  officer did not appropriately safeguard the weapon,

         18  and frankly, under the circumstances, leaving a

         19  weapon in a household when the officer would not be

         20  home, we would be looking for something like a lock

         21  box or safe, and that officer would most likely be

         22  subject to disciplinary action, command discipline

         23  and charges an specifications. There is a variety of

         24  approaches.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Can your
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          2  provide this Committee with what that reg of the

          3  Department says --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Safe

          5  guards?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Safeguarding

          7  so that we have an idea.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Safeguard

          9  weapons at all times?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Yes, we

         12  can do that, sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, fine.

         14  Thank you. Because I just want to make sure that the

         15  issue is not about the trigger lock, and that a

         16  police officer is taking action, because the whole

         17  purpose of this bill was to try to prevent access of

         18  not the gun, but the actual shooting of the gun and

         19  the trigger lock is one way of at least attempting

         20  to prevent the discharge of the gun, which is why

         21  Christopher today is not in this room.

         22                 So, in fairness, I am perfectly

         23  willing to depend on the Police Department, but I

         24  need you to show us, so that as we do go through

         25  these incidents, which I don't think -- and I am
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          2  glad it is not many in terms of police officers --

          3  but I also would like to see that if a police

          4  officer did not secure his weapon properly, that I

          5  can look at discipline against those police

          6  officers.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Thank

          9  you. And just to be perfectly clear for the record,

         10  that in the tragic case of Christopher Murphy, of

         11  course we all know it was not his parents' firearm,

         12  I just want to make sure the record is clear.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine. The only

         14  reason I used that one is because both parents were

         15  police officers in that house.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: In that house,

         18  it could have been the parents' weapon.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: I also know

         21  that the weapon that the kid brought to the house

         22  had nothing to do with the officer.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: It wasn't

         24  even in their household, just to be clear on that

         25  point.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, why don't

          3  we move on.

          4                 Just some additional questions in

          5  conclusion for you, okay?

          6                 Do other jurisdictions have

          7  legislation essentially that you are discussing here

          8  with us today?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am not

         10  aware of it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You are not

         12  aware of it?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I mean, in

         15  general --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: That is

         17  not to say that I am saying there is not, I am just

         18  not aware --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You didn't make

         20  any check of, you know, a model that is on other

         21  jurisdictions, what you basically sought to do is

         22  identify about four areas where you thought the

         23  current law could be strengthened and rather than go

         24  to other states?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: That is
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          2  exactly what we did. We worked with Christopher's

          3  law as a basis to strengthen it.

          4                 And then you touched on the point

          5  earlier as well. I mean, I testified back when we

          6  originally passed Christopher's law, and there were

          7  points that we all needed to be additional research,

          8  research being done, we used that model.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. So, it is

         10  not as though you have checked as to how other

         11  jurisdictions deal with this officer issue, whether

         12  or not they should be exempted?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No, I

         14  haven't.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         16                 Let me also say, I have now had a

         17  chance to read this memorandum from Corporation

         18  Counsel or Assistant Corporation Counsel, and

         19  frankly it strikes me as largely conclusory, rather

         20  than explaining in detail or in any -- you know,

         21  just why you believe there is not a safe preemption

         22  issue.

         23                 If you want to elaborate, now that I

         24  have read it.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Excuse me
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          2  while I confer with the author of the memo you are

          3  referring to, Mr. Chairman.

          4                 As I was indicating earlier, and

          5  advised again by the author, one of the key points

          6  of this proposed legislation is that we are in no

          7  way conditioning licensing on the use of the trigger

          8  lock. And as you recall, that area, the direct

          9  tie-in with the licensing was a concern in an

         10  earlier draft.

         11                 The approach that we have here, which

         12  we believe is written in a way where there is

         13  absolutely no conflict or issue with the licensing

         14  authority in 400, is that in the event it comes into

         15  the Department's attention that a licensee was in

         16  violation of this law, that will certainly be an

         17  incident for investigation by the License Division,

         18  but then it would be investigated pursuant to the

         19  Penal Law 400 authority given to the police

         20  commissioner. Since the law is structured in that

         21  way we don't see an issue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         23                 You know, the Commissioner, or the

         24  Commissioner's representative will be exercising

         25  judgment as to just how to deal with possible
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          2  violation or violation of the trigger lock law.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You know, I am

          5  not saying it is in conflict, it is not in conflict,

          6  I don't see it being in conflict, but you know, to

          7  some extent it is sort of a non-state factor. But I

          8  guess you could say there are other non-state law

          9  factors also that can be fairly weighed in any

         10  decision as to whether to reauthorize a license.

         11                 I am not saying I disagree with it,

         12  and therefore, I guess your feeling is why don't we

         13  proceed.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And then

         15  for the record, you know, we have obviously, I mean

         16  this is an official opinion from the Law Department

         17  and we are advised that to the extent that there

         18  would be any litigation on this, the Law Department

         19  is fully prepared to litigate and to defend this

         20  law.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         22                 I don't envision the chances of being

         23  litigated, as much as a lot of other things, so

         24  hopefully there won't be.

         25                 Does anybody else have any questions
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          2  for the Administration representative?

          3                 Mr. Golden. Councilman Golden.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I just want to

          5  thank Commissioner Grasso for a great day today and

          6  Commanding Officer of Firearms and Commanding

          7  Officer of Licenses, Deputy Inspector Hudson, thank

          8  you for coming out today.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: When I knew we

         10  might need an extra vote and I saw Mr. Golden

         11  walking in, I figured here is somebody --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I flew all the

         13  way in from Brooklyn.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, we are

         15  glad to have you here.

         16                 I leave it to you as to whether you

         17  want to have somebody here just in case there are

         18  any other questions but I don't really anticipate

         19  any other questions.

         20                 We have two basic sets of witnesses.

         21  Thank you very much for your testimony. We have

         22  another hearing of this Committee on October 26th, I

         23  will point out, and we look forward to seeing the

         24  Police Department there then.

         25                 We will vote on this on the
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          2  conclusion. We have two other witnesses, okay? So,

          3  thank you very much for your testimony. If you want

          4  to wait, we would be happy to have you wait, but if

          5  not, you know, we have no further questions now.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Okay.

          7  Once again, I would like to thank the Chair and the

          8  Committee members reiterate, this is important

          9  legislation. I think it can save lives. Thank you

         10  for your due consideration.

         11                 Good afternoon.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is good to

         13  work with you.

         14                 Could we please have quiet? We have

         15  somebody here I am told under time constraints on

         16  their lunch hour. So, we will take two people

         17  together. Oh, she already left. I am sorry that she

         18  had to leave.

         19                 In that case, you know, the practice

         20  of the Council is to take representatives or public

         21  officials who are here.

         22                 The distinguished representative of

         23  our distinguished Bronx Borough President, Fernando

         24  Ferrer is here, Mr. Corey Bearak, a well known face

         25  before this Committee.
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          2                 MR. BEARAK: Welcome. It is nice to be

          3  back.

          4                 It is great pleasure to be back, and

          5  I guess in my first public appearance before the

          6  Council, before the Committee, which is chaired by

          7  the person who mentored me.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is good to

          9  have you back.

         10                 MR. BEARAK: I guess for the better

         11  part of a decade and half.

         12                 Anyway, I am here representing the

         13  Bronx Borough President Fernando Ferrer, for the

         14  record, my name is Corey Bearak, I am his

         15  legislative counsel.

         16                 New York City needs to take all

         17  appropriate steps to make our city safe from the

         18  hazards of gun violence. In this context Borough

         19  President Ferrer supports the legislation to extend

         20  the requirement for handgun safety locks to all

         21  firearms. By strengthening Christopher's Law, New

         22  York City does more than make a statement. Our City

         23  charts a path towards reducing gun violence, and it

         24  goes further than any other government at any other

         25  level.
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          2                 The Borough President applauds the

          3  Public Safety Committee for conceiving Local Law 21

          4  and now taking the next step to reduce gun violence.

          5                 We know the tragic outcomes when guns

          6  fall into the wrong hands. Securing firearms to

          7  prevent other tragedies just make sense. Let's make

          8  the widest use of trigger and other safety locks,

          9  using these simple and inexpensive devices, which

         10  attach to guns and blocks their use, will safe

         11  lives.

         12                 Christopher's Law encourages gun

         13  owners to secure their guns in a safe manner from

         14  access by children and requires any gun sold or

         15  transferred to be equipped with a locking device to

         16  prevent the firing of the handgun.

         17                 This legislation ensures greater

         18  firearm safety by mandating these locks for all

         19  firearms.

         20                 Look at this measure which extends

         21  Local Law 21's coverage to all weapons sold or

         22  possessed in the City of New York as the next step

         23  to gun safety. We need to place a premium on getting

         24  owners to use these devices. Let's look at other gun

         25  safety measures: Maybe this is for Council Member
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          2  Boyland's point.

          3                 - we must appropriately deploy our

          4  cops to take guns off the street and prevent illegal

          5  guns from finding their way to the City of New York.

          6                 - it is time for New York City to

          7  initiate action on commencing a lawsuit against

          8  gunmakers -- that is something I think that the

          9  chair urged about ten months or so ago -- as a

         10  prelude to joining the Attorney General Spitzer's

         11  negotiations to force the gun industry to adhere to

         12  a code of conduct.

         13                 - advocate a strengthened

         14  Christopher's Law at the State and Federal levels.

         15                 - establish by Local Law, gun safety

         16  zones around schools, libraries, youth and day care

         17  centers and public buildings.

         18                 - require reporting, preferably in

         19  the Mayor's Management Report, on gun safe measures.

         20                 The Borough President stands ready to

         21  work with the Council and the Administration on

         22  these and other sensible initiatives to make our

         23  City safer from violence from guns.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.
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          2                 Are there questions for the Bronx

          3  Borough President's representative?

          4                 If not, thanks very much for your

          5  testimony. Thank the Borough President, and we

          6  welcome your support for the legislation.

          7                 MR. BEARAK: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is good to

          9  see you again.

         10                 Okay, we are joined by a

         11  representative, well known to the Committee, Barbara

         12  Hohlt, from the New Yorkers Against Gun Violence.

         13                 Jean Jamate, she is the one who left.

         14                 MS. HOHLT: She left, and actually I

         15  have her statement.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, can you do

         17  both?

         18                 MS. HOHLT: Good afternoon, Chairman

         19  Leffler and Council Members, with your permission,

         20  unless you really want me to, I won't read the

         21  entire statement, because it has many of the same

         22  arguments that have been made already on this issue.

         23  But I would like to say that we are here in support

         24  of this. We are very happy to see that Christopher's

         25  Law is going to be extended, because when you look
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          2  at the latest numbers, we still have far too many

          3  children dying in this City from firearms.

          4                 One of the issues that we wanted to

          5  bring up that doesn't always come up when people

          6  talk about locking up firearms, is that it is not

          7  just an issue with accidents, it is a very big issue

          8  with suicides as well for teens.

          9                 Recently there were two suicides in

         10  Staten Island of teens who came home kind of upset

         11  and depressed about something that happened at

         12  school and there was an unlocked loaded gun in the

         13  house, and two deaths resulted.

         14                 There is a lot of evidence that teen

         15  suicides in particular happen because of the

         16  availability of a firearm. There is some research

         17  cited in this paper that I have passed out to you,

         18  and that in contrast to other methods of suicide,

         19  firearms don't give a teen a second chance because

         20  they are generally fatal. So, it is very important

         21  to lock up guns for that reason as well.

         22                 And also to lock up guns, because as

         23  we all know, kids take unlocked guns to show off or

         24  to settle a dispute at school, and I have cited in

         25  the testimony a Lou Harris Associates survey that
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          2  was done for the YWCA in 1996 which indicated that

          3  when you asked the question of teens who lived in a

          4  home with a gun, they take the gun without their

          5  parents knowing it, 50 percent said yes and that is

          6  a pretty frightening figure, so it is very important

          7  to lock up.

          8                 Jean Jamate, who was going to be

          9  here, works with our group very courageously. Her

         10  19-year-old daughter committed suicide with an

         11  unlocked long gun, so it is very important for her

         12  to see you extending this law to rifles and shotguns

         13  as well. And she doesn't want to see other families

         14  go through what her family went through.

         15                 She said my name is Jean Jamate, I am

         16  a member of New Yorkers Against Gun Violence, whose

         17  mission is to reduce gun death and injury. I am

         18  gratified the City Council and the Mayor are

         19  introducing 633 which strengthens Christopher's Law.

         20  If one life is saved and one family is spared the

         21  pain of losing someone because of careless firearm

         22  storage of any type, then the passage of this

         23  legislation is worth it.

         24                 It is unthinkable for most people to

         25  imagine losing a loved one due to an accident or
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          2  impulsive suicide, but the statistics proved it is a

          3  tragic reality.

          4                 Just as seat belt laws prove to save

          5  lives, I believe passage of state storage laws will

          6  also save lives.

          7                 So, we are very happy about this

          8  step. We do have two additional issues, both of

          9  which have been brought up already, one is the issue

         10  about law enforcement, exemption of law enforcement.

         11  Again, we would urge that there were department

         12  regulations on gun storage, and what particularly

         13  concerns us is the non-service revolvers and

         14  off-duty revolvers because from this exemption it

         15  looks like you are exempting every gun the officer

         16  owns and there are many officers who have a fair

         17  number of firearms, not just their service revolver

         18  and off duty revolver.

         19                 And I think that as someone was

         20  talking about technology before, there are

         21  Departments, I believe Boston is one of them, where

         22  they have issued a new very good type of lock box to

         23  officers to store loaded firearms in so that it

         24  eliminates this issue of how fast you can get to

         25  your firearm. I think that how fast you can get to
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          2  your firearm is a really slippery slope argument

          3  that you will have citizens arguing that, too, if it

          4  comes to argument for exempting police officers.

          5                 I think we should look very carefully

          6  at that issue, and I think that we should think as a

          7  City about providing these kinds of storage boxes to

          8  police officers that other departments have done

          9  throughout the country. And again, we must be really

         10  careful about the other firearms they have in their

         11  homes.

         12                 And then, finally, we feel that

         13  illegal firearms are a much bigger issue in the

         14  City, and teens, every time you talk to them they

         15  tell you how easy it is to find a firearm, purchase

         16  one on the street and we would like to see the

         17  Committee on Public Safety hold a hearing on ways to

         18  stop the flow of illegal firearms into the City.

         19  More can be done we think in terms of cooperation

         20  between the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms

         21  and the Police Department, and also the City, as was

         22  called for last year, could join other cities in the

         23  ground-breaking lawsuits against gun manufacturers

         24  for negligent distribution.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I have urged
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          2  that that be done. I think you know that.

          3                 MS. HOHLT: Yes, I know that you have

          4  urged that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There was a

          6  press conference --

          7                 MS. HOHLT: Yes, exactly. And I praise

          8  you for that and I hope that we can pursue that for

          9  this year as a City.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Ultimately it is

         11  up to the Administration to decide whom to sue.

         12                 MS. HOHLT: I think it is important,

         13  because --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And they are

         15  involved in an awful lot of such activities.

         16                 MS. HOHLT: Right. And on the other

         17  question that you asked about, the opinion from Corp

         18  Counsel, there is another jurisdiction in New York

         19  State which is currently considering similar

         20  legislation to this, and it has been the opinion of

         21  their county council that it is also perfectly

         22  within the law, Penal Code 400, and that is

         23  Westchester. Westchester has similar legislation in

         24  front of their -- no, I didn't mean to imply that

         25  you hadn't worked hard on that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I didn't

          3  construe it that way.

          4                 MS. HOHLT: Yes. But I do think that

          5  particularly if they move into the phase of sitting

          6  down and doing some settlements with the gun

          7  industry, it becomes even more important for the

          8  City to be at the table when those discussions

          9  happen.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBLES: Mr. Chairman, may

         12  I request of you something because I see that the

         13  Police Department are here?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member

         15  Robles.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Which leads

         17  back to my question about the off duty and what have

         18  you, and clearly -- I request of the Chair to

         19  perhaps have the policeman give to this Committee

         20  exactly what is the Department regulations, i.e. gun

         21  storage and including all of the weapons that police

         22  officers have that may not be, like I said, the gun

         23  that is issued or the service revolver, I know that

         24  there are other guns that are in the houses that

         25  police officers may be the residents, and I think
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          2  that was the concern with why is that being exempt,

          3  which has nothing to do with taking action.

          4                 MS. HOHLT: Right.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Because I know

          6  if I was a police officer, of course if I am on duty

          7  I have my gun, even when I am not on duty, I have a

          8  kid brother who is a correction officer and I can

          9  tell you that he doesn't lock his gun because he is

         10  off duty. I mean, you get accustomed to having that

         11  weapon with you.

         12                 So, you make a good point, and I

         13  think maybe for us to understand the policeman's

         14  rationale, which was your question about relying

         15  upon them, I need to see exactly what they have in

         16  place that assures that police officers are not only

         17  trained but they are safe guarding their guns.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is a good

         19  suggestion.

         20                 Ms. Petito, Sue Petito, we glad that

         21  you are here, that you have stayed. We appreciate

         22  it. Do you think you could provide the Committee, me

         23  and Councilman Robles, with those regulations that

         24  he just requested so we can see what you have

         25  done?s.
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          2                 MS. PETITO: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, thank you.

          4                 MS. HOHLT: Thank you very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

          6  much. We appreciate the good work you have done in

          7  this area, you have really been very, very helpful.

          8                 I think we are prepared to take a

          9  vote. We have Claude here.

         10                 Is anybody else here to testify for

         11  the legislation? Against the legislation? In that

         12  case I think we can proceed to a vote. Give us one

         13  minute. I think there are a couple of members

         14  outside.

         15                 Okay, if there are no further

         16  questions, we will proceed to a roll call.

         17  Sergeant-At-Arms, would you tell any member

         18  downstairs that we are voting on this.

         19                 Okay, roll call.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Leffler.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am voting for

         22  the legislation and I am urging a yes vote for the

         23  following reasons:

         24                 I think we can be somewhat content

         25  that we introduced this legislation a couple of
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          2  years ago, we got it passed last year. We recognized

          3  at the time that there were a number of outstanding

          4  issues which were significant and that which would

          5  require further work. It seemed like the intelligent

          6  thing at the time to pass the legislation we could

          7  go with and perhaps strengthen the law subsequently,

          8  and, in fact, we are doing that now.

          9                 This would extend the reach of the

         10  legislation to additional weapons, long guns,

         11  assault weapons and the like. It would also require

         12  locks on guns in possession, it would require that

         13  people who go for reauthorization of their licenses

         14  have locks on their guns. So, for a number of

         15  reasons I think this can protect, as one of the last

         16  witnesses said, or the one who wasn't here, Ms.

         17  Jamate, even a few people, maybe even one person I

         18  think it is worthwhile doing this. So I vote aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Michels.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: I am going to

         21  vote aye on this legislation, and I ask to be added

         22  as a prime sponsor. I thought I was a prime sponsor

         23  but I want to be added. I think this is a very

         24  important legislation and I think it will go a long

         25  way to bettering the legislation and to protect the
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          2  people, starting with the Sullivan Act and going to

          3  the last piece of the legislation we had, it is

          4  extremely important.

          5                 We may not be able to solve the gun

          6  problem of the country, but we should be doing what

          7  we have to do in this City to try to stop the

          8  violence from weapons such as this, such as were

          9  enumerated here, and I think maybe we can lead by

         10  our example and other states will follow with the

         11  law. What we really need is federal legislation,

         12  and, therefore, I vote aye.

         13                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY:  Robles.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Michels.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: McCaffrey.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Watkins.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Reed.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Golden.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

          5  eight in the affirmative, and none in the negative,

          6  with no abstentions, the item is adopted.

          7                 Please sign the reports.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you. Let

          9  me just say in conclusion, my understanding is that

         10  the bill will continue to be called Christopher's

         11  Law, the law that this bill amends.

         12                 The next meeting of this Committee is

         13  October 26th. Actually, I meant to say we have a

         14  joint meeting of this Committee with General Welfare

         15  and with the Women's Committee on Domestic Violence,

         16  October is Domestic Violence Month. That meeting is

         17  October 20th. And October 26th we have another

         18  meeting of this Committee.

         19                 If there are no further comments,

         20  this meeting is adjourned.

         21                 Thank you, all.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)

         23

         24

         25
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